IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-472

HARRY FRANKLIN PHILLIPS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WILLIAM M. HENNIS III Litigation Director Florida Bar #0066850

M. CHANCE MEYER Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar #0056362

Capital Collateral Regional Counsel – South 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 Tel (954) 713-1284 Fax (954) 713- 1299

COUNSEL FOR MR. PHILLIPS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Mr. Phillips appeals the circuit court's denial of his successive motion for postconviction relief. In response to Mr. Phillips's argument that the decision in *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009) created a change in Florida's *Strickland* jurisprudence that requires consideration and granting of Mr. Phillips's postconviction claims, the circuit court ruled that *Porter* does not represent a change in the law (Order at 5), that if it did the change would nevertheless not be retroactive (Order at 6), and that even if *Porter* represented a retroactive change in law it would not merit relief in this case (Order at 6). Below, Mr. Phillips identifies errors in each of those rulings.

CITATIONS TO THE RECORD

The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal: "T" -- resentencing transcript; "R" -- record on resentencing; "R2" -- record on previous postconviction appeal; and "R3" -- the present postconviction record. All other citations will be self-explanatory or will be otherwise explained.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Pursuant to Rule 9.320 of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, Mr. Phillips respectfully moves this Court for oral argument on his appeal.

i

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PRE	LIMINARY STATEMENTi
CIT	ATIONS TO THE RECORDi
RE(UEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENTi
TAE	BLE OF CONTENTS ii
TAE	BLE OF AUTHORITIES iii
INT	RODUCTION1
STA	TEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS2
SUN	IMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS16
STA	NDARD OF REVIEW16
AR(GUMENT17
	PHILLIPS'S SENTENCE VIOLATES THE SIXTH AND HTH AMENDMENTS UNDER <i>PORTER V. MCCOLLUM</i> 17
I.	<i>Porter</i> constitutes a change in Florida <i>Strickland</i> jurisprudence that is retroactive and thus creates a successive claim for relief19
II.	Porter error was committed in Mr. Phillips's case46
CON	NCLUSION61
CEF	RTIFICATE OF FONT62
CEF	RTIFICATE OF SERVICE63

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Armstrong v. Dugger, 833 F.2d 1430 (11th Cir. 1987)
<i>Bertolotti v. State</i> , 534 So. 2d 386 (Fla. 1988)
Booker v. Singletary, 90 F.3d 440 (11th Cir. 1996)
Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985)
Central Waterworks, Inc. v. Town of Century,
754 So. 2d 814 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000)17
<i>Cherry v. State</i> , 781 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 2001)
Danforth v. Minnesota, 552 U.S. 264 (2008)
Delap v. Dugger, 513 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 1987) 26, 28
Delap v. Dugger, 890 F.2d 285 (11th Cir. 1989)29
<i>Demps v. Dugger</i> , 514 So. 2d 1092 (Fla. 1987) 26, 27
<i>Diaz v. Dugger</i> , 719 So. 2d 865 (Fla. 1998)34
Downs v. Dugger, 514 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1987) 26, 27, 28
<i>Espinosa v. Florida</i> , 505 U.S. 1079 (1992)19
<i>Gamache v. California</i> , 562 U. S (November 29, 2010)43
Grossman v. Dugger, 708 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 1997)
Hall v. State, 541 So. 2d 1125 (Fla. 1989)18
Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393 (1987) 19, 25, 29

Holland v. Florida, 130 S. Ct. 2549 (2010) 21, 22
Holland v. Gross, 89 So. 2d 255 (Fla. 1956)17
Hudson v. State, 614 So. 2d 482 (Fla. 1993)
James v. State, 615 So. 2d 668 (Fla. 1993)16
<i>Kennedy v. State</i> , 547 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 1989)
<i>Koon v. Dugger</i> , 619 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 1993)
<i>Kyles v. Whitley</i> , 514 U.S. 419 (1995)
<i>Linkletter v. Walker</i> , 381 U.S. 618 (1965)24
Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978) passim
Marek v. Dugger, 547 So. 2d 109 (Fla. 1989)
<i>Penry v. Lynaugh</i> , 492 U.S. 302 (1989)
Phillips v. Dugger, 515 So. 2d 227 (Fla. 1987) passim
<i>Phillips v. Florida</i> , 119 S. Ct. 187 (1998)
Phillips v. State, 476 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 1985)
Phillips v. State, 608 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 1992)
Phillips v. State, 705 So. 2d 1320 (Fla 1997)
Phillips v. State, 894 So. 2d 28 (Fla. 2004) 4, 15, 47, 60
Phillips v. State, 894 So. 2d 28 (Fla. 2004) 4, 15, 47, 60 Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009) passim

4
n
3
5
4
9
6
0
0
1
7
3
n

Rules

Fla. R	. Crim.	P.	3.850	3
--------	---------	----	-------	---

INTRODUCTION

In Porter v. McCollum, the United States Supreme Court ruled that this Court's Strickland analysis in Porter v. State, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001) was "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." 130 S. Ct. 447, 455 (2009). The United States Supreme Court made that determination pursuant to the standard established by the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act ("AEDPA"), which does not permit a federal court to reverse a state court ruling on constitutional grounds simply because the federal court disagrees or the federal court thinks the state court was wrong, but rather requires what is treated as an extremely high level of deference to state court rulings, prohibiting federal courts from altering state court judgments and sentences unless the application of federal law by the state court, which in the Porter case was Strickland, was unreasonable, meaning not even supported by reason or a rationale. It is in this context that the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Porter* must be read. When asking whether Porter requires a change in this Court's jurisprudence going forward, it must be considered that the United States Supreme Court in Porter found this Court's application of *Strickland* to be so unreasonable that the United States Supreme Court found it appropriate to reach past its concerns of federalism and deference to state courts and respect for state sovereignty to correct the unconstitutional ruling.

Mr. Phillips asks this Court to consider *Porter* introspectively, looking past the first blush language of the opinion, and inquiring into whether or not *Porter* forbids something that this Court has done in the present case. In other words, giving *Porter* a read-through and asking if this case is distinguishable may be insufficient to identify the underlying constitutional problem; Mr. Phillips asks this Court to attain a sense for the problem in conceptual approach that *Porter* identifies and then ask if something similar happened here. This Court must consider whether the unreasonable analysis in *Porter* was merely an aberration, limited solely to the penalty phase ineffectiveness claim in that case and wholly different and separate from other *Strickland* analyses by this Court, or was it in fact indicative of a non-isolated conceptual problem in this Court's approach to *Strickland* issues that occurred also in the present case.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Case history

The Circuit Court for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Dade County, Florida, entered the judgment of conviction and sentence of death at issue in this case. Mr. Phillips was found guilty of one count of first degree murder, and the jury voted narrowly in favor of death by a vote of seven-to-five. The court followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Mr. Phillips to death. On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the conviction and sentence. *Phillips* v. *State*, 476 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 1985).¹ Mr. Phillips filed a motion for postconviction relief which was denied by the trial court

The trial court denied Mr. Phillips motion for postconviction relief in 1988, however, this Court vacated the death sentence and remanded for resentencing. *Phillips v. State*, 608 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 1992). In 1994, Mr. Phillips was resentenced to death, again by the narrowest of margins, seven-to-five. On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the sentence imposing the death penalty. *Phillips v. State*, 705 So. 2d 1320 (Fla 1997). Mr. Phillips petitioned the United States Supreme Court for certiorari and the petition was denied on October 5, 1998. *Phillips v. Florida*, 119 S. Ct. 187 (1998).

On September 13, 1999, Mr. Phillips filed a Rule 3.850 postconviction motion challenging his death sentence, which was amended on December 2, 1999. The circuit court, in an order served on September 26, 2000, denied Mr. Phillips's motion without an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Phillips filed a Notice of Appeal on October 24, 2000. On the appeal to this Court, the order of the lower court denying an evidentiary hearing on all claims was affirmed, but Mr. Phillips was permitted to file a new Rule 3.851 motion concerning his mental retardation.

¹ A state habeas petition was also filed by CCR based on *Caldwell v. Mississippi*, 472 U.S. 320 (1985). The *Caldwell* claim was held to be procedurally barred. *Phillips v. Dugger*, 515 So. 2d 227 (Fla. 1987).

Phillips v. State, 894 So. 2d 28 (Fla. 2004). That motion was filed in circuit court on March 28, 2005.

On May 27, 2005 this Court relinquished jurisdiction back to the circuit court for the limited purpose of determination of mental retardation. A subsequent appeal from the denial of relief by the circuit court following a 2006 evidentiary hearing on mental retardation was initiated on June 12, 2006. That appeal was rejected by this Court on March 21, 2008.

Mr. Phillips had previously filed another postconviction motion in circuit court on September 23, 2004, including a judicial bias claim, based upon newly discovered evidence, pursuant to Rule 3.851(e)(2)(C), while the appeal from the denial of his previous postconviction motion was still pending in this Court. The circuit court dismissed the motion for lack or jurisdiction and Mr. Phillips thereafter filed a notice of appeal on December 21, 2004.

On June 21, 2007, this Court entered an order separating the mental retardation litigation, from the judicial bias issue that had never been litigated in the circuit court because of lack of jurisdiction.

This Court's order allowed Mr. Phillips sixty days from June 21, 2007 to refile his successive postconviction motion *nunc pro tunc* to the date his prior motion concerning this issue was filed in the trial court, September 23, 2004. The order stated that the still pending mental retardation appeal did not deprive the trial

4

court of jurisdiction to consider a refiled postconviction motion concerning the judicial bias claim.

Thereafter the circuit court motion was served on August 15, 2007 (R2. 59-135). Appellant also served a motion to interview jurors on that same day (R2. 55-58). The State responded to both pleadings (R2. 136-74), and a case management conference was held on September 21, 2007.

Following the case management conference, the lower court entered orders summarily denying both motions without any additional development (R2. 175-176). Mr. Phillips appealed the denial to this Court, which affirmed, finding that the state postconviction court had properly determined mental retardation on March 20, 2008. The Florida Supreme Court on September 23, 2008 issued an order affirming the denial of the motion for post conviction relief.

Facts relevant to the underlying Strickland claim

At Mr. Phillips's resentencing, the State referred to Mr. Phillips during the examination of Dr. Toomer as "supposedly retarded" (R. 654-56). The State made several comments in closing argument at the resentencing ridiculing the defense mitigation testimony by repeating over and over that Dr. Toomer has testified that Mr. Phillips was not "a vegetable" (R. 745, 752, 753).

For resentencing, Barry M. Wax was appointed to Mr. Phillips's case on February 26, 1993 (R. 62). He entered the appearance of his law firm, Law Offices of Soven & Wax, as resentencing counsel for Mr. Phillips on March 2, 1993 (R. 388-89). More than seven months later, Wax filed a motion on October 18, 1993 requesting that the trial court reappoint the same two defense expert witnesses, the psychologists Toomer and Carbonell, that had testified almost six years before at the January 1988 evidentiary hearing (R. 83-84). This motion was filed only three and a half months prior to the scheduled trial date, and explained:

In order to adequately present that [statutory] mitigating evidence, as well as other non-statutory mitigating evidence, it is essential that the Defendant utilize the services of Dr. Jethro Toomer and Dr. Joyce Carbonell. Both Dr. Toomer and Dr. Carbonell have previously been appointed by this court to testify on behalf of the Defendant, and are familiar with the facts and circumstances of this case. In fact, Dr. Toomer and Dr. Carbonell both testified at the Defendant's motion to vacate conviction and sentence held before this Honorable Court in January 1988. As a result of that hearing and appellate review of this Court's order denying the Defendant's motion, the Defendant was granted the resentencing hearing pending this Honorable Court. As such, Dr. Toomer and Dr. Carbonell are uniquely suited to testify on behalf of the Defendant.

(R. 84). Mr. Wax, the resentencing counsel, also filed a motion for a competency evaluation on October 18, 1993, in which he advised the trial court that "[s]ince the time of the [evidentiary] hearing on the Defendant's Rule 3.850 motion, he has been incarcerated on 'Death Row.' Counsel believes that the Defendant's condition has further deteriorated as a consequence of that incarceration" (R. 86). Of course since Mr. Phillips's competency had been an issue at the 1988 hearing and the

appeal from the denial of relief, with Drs. Carbonell and Toomer opining that Mr. Phillips was not competent, this was a reasonable concern. *See Phillips v. State*, 608 So. 2d 778, 782 (Fla. 1992). At the hearing on the motion for re-appointment of defense experts on October 26, 1993, resentencing counsel stated that while he had spoken to Dr. Toomer about accepting reappointment, he had not spoken with Dr. Carbonell about the case and was having trouble getting in touch with her (T. 18). In spite of this revelation, the court re-appointed Drs. Toomer and Carbonell on October 28, 1993 (R. 91-94). Based on the record Mr. Wax's problems in communicating with Dr. Carbonell continued as the resentencing drew ever closer. At a hearing on January 11, 1994, less than a month before the scheduled resentencing, counsel indicated that he still had been unable to contact Dr. Carbonell:

- Mr. WAX: We are set for February 7. I have been doing everything; everything I can to be set ready on February 7th. I got a call from Mr. Waksman saying if I will be ready for trial. The only major hurdle that I'm having is Dr. Carbonell. Apparently she has been very ill. She has been She's one of the doctors -- one of the doctors that are familiar with the case originally. It listed her to the defense in 3.850 hearing.
- COURT: Lets not appoint her if she's sick. How about Miller?
- Mr. Wax: Miller testifies for the prosecution.

- COURT: Who else?
- Mr. Wax: What I have to do is find a psychiatrist or psychologist who is willing to get up to speed in the case. So, let me make some phone calls and see if I can get someone but leave Dr. Carbonell now.
- COURT: I don't want any delays on this.
- Mr. Wax: I understand. I don't.
- COURT: This is case is six, seven years old.
- Mr. Wax: Well, yes. I think you're right. Realistically I know we are looking in March. Mr. Waksman was notified to be here. He will be down here soon. What I'll do --
- COURT: I have no idea about this case. This case is something that really bugs me.
- Mr. Wax: A life of its own. In any rate, I'll get in touch with you and let you know who to replace her with. I'll let you know immediately.
- COURT: I'll like to go on the February 7th date if at all possible.
- Mr. Wax: I don't know that's realistic because you the doctor's -- I'll still endeavor to try.

(T. 24-26). So with less than a month before the scheduled resentencing hearing and the court pressing to move forward resentencing counsel Wax who had entered his appearance in the case ten months before had failed to even contact Dr. Carbonell, the mental health expert that he considered to be "a crucial witness" (R. 121).

Following the hearing on January 11, the trial court signed an order appointing Drs. Toomer, Miller and Leonard Haber as "disinterested qualified experts" to determine the competency of Mr. Phillips (R. 96). This was done without defense objection despite the fact that all three had opined in 1988 on competency with credibility findings to the detriment of Mr. Phillips made by Judge Snyder that were affirmed by this Court on appeal (R. 96). At the time of this proceeding Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.211(e) was in effect.

Dr. Toomer did a 1994 competency evaluation, finding Mr. Phillips to be competent (T. 30). Dr. Toomer did not testify about his finding of competency in 1994 but in response to a question from the State he did testify that he had previously found Mr. Phillips to be incompetent five years before (T. 638). At the State's urging, and without objection by resentencing counsel, the court specially instructed the jury after Dr. Carbonell's testimony and before Dr. Toomer's testimony that they were not to consider competency issues (T. 593). Resentencing counsel's only reaction was to say that he had no intention of arguing the question of competency to the jury (T. 586).

At some point counsel did contact Dr. Carbonell, but additional problems kept cropping up. At a hearing on March 24, 1994, eleven days before the

9

resentencing hearing was scheduled to start on April 4, 1994, resentencing counsel informed the court that he was having difficulty arranging to get Dr. Carbonell down from Tallahassee to Miami because of her teaching schedule (T. 35-39). He stated that his intent was to have Dr. Carbonell come to Miami to see Mr. Phillips (apparently for the first time since 1988), and to be available for deposition and testimony on the Thursday or Friday of the resentencing (T. 36). The State also indicated on the record that they had been unable to depose Dr. Carbonell (T. 36). The court indicated irritation at this plan, asking why resentencing counsel thinks the resentencing will take a week (T. 36-37). Resentencing counsel then agreed to bring Dr. Carbonell to Miami, the week before the resentencing was scheduled to begin on April 4 (T. 37). On the same date, March 24, the trial court signed another "order appointing disinterested qualified experts," appointing Dr. Miller for what prosecutor David Waksman described as "for the aggravating and mitigating. He will probably contradict he has certain mitigating factors" (T. 31, R. 97). The next day, the trial court entered an order in chambers compelling discovery by the State of any psychological testing performed by Dr. Toomer or Dr. Carbonell on Mr. Phillips (T. 99). Dr. Carbonell never saw Mr. Phillips after 1988, submitted to deposition, or testified in 1994. Resentencing counsel filed a Motion for Continuance on March 31, 1994, the Thursday before the resentencing

was set to begin on the following Monday morning, April 4 (R. 121-23). The

problem was again Dr. Carbonell. The motion outlines counsels concerns:

The penalty phase proceeding in this matter is scheduled for April 4, 1994. The Defendant is not ready to proceed to the penalty phase at this time due to the unavailability of a crucial witness, Dr. Joyce Carbonell. Dr. Joyce Carbonell will testify on behalf of the Defendant as a mitigating witness. She is a professor of psychology at Florida State University, Tallahassee, Florida. She has conducted extensive psychological testing on the defendant and obtained a psycho-social history of the Defendant that is essential to the presentation of the mitigating circumstances that the capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance...and the capacity of the Defendant to appreciated (sic) the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law were substantially impaired. . . . Without her testimony, it will be virtually impossible to establish those mitigating circumstances.

The motion goes on to request that Dr. Carbonell be allowed to testify on Wednesday, April 13, 1994 or on Friday, April 15, 1994, citing *Wike v. State*, 596 So. 2d 1020 (Fla. 1992), wherein the defendant was granted a new penalty phase because the trial court abused its discretion in denying a continuance (R. 122). The trial court had previously denied virtually the same ore tenus motion at the hearing noted above on March 24, 1994.

Following the selection of the jury on Monday, April 4, 1994, on the next morning, April 5, before opening statements, Mr. Wax informed the court that Dr. Carbonell would not be appearing at the resentencing:

- Mr. Wax: Dr. Carbonell. Mr. Waksman and I spoke to Dr. Carbonell last night, Your Honor, and Mr. Waksman and I agreed to have a telephonic hook up to read the testimony of Dr. Carbonell from the 1988 Rule 3.850 hearing into the record. I spoke to Mr. Waksman about having my secretary coming in and reading the answers in response to the questions that were posed to her on direct and cross examination because her testimony would be consistent if she was to testify. It would be the same testimony.
- COURT: Why isn't she going to be available?
- Mr. Wax: Dr. Carbonell's availability was precluded by the fact as advised by the Court next to subpoena her and ensure her presence, and secondly through a miscommunication that she has scheduled matters on these dates this week. Because of that miscommunication between she and I that can not be rescheduled as such, Your Honor, this I believe is the best way to handle it.
- COURT: Has your client been informed of this?
- Mr. Wax: No, I have not spoken to him.
- COURT: You better inform him because I don't want it to come back for another thing of incompetency of counsel.
- Mr. Wax: I understand that, Judge.
- COURT: Make sure you understand it and he's willing to waive anything that has to do with it.

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