IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-472

HARRY FRANKLIN PHILLIPS,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,
CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5655

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

Defendant also seems to suggest that *Porter* requires a court to grant relief on an ineffective assistance of counsel based solely on a finding that some evidence to support prejudice was presented at a post conviction hearing regardless of what mitigation was presented at trial, how incredible the new evidence was, how much negative information the new evidence

would have caused to be presented at trial or how aggravated the case was. However, *Porter* itself states that this is not the standard for assessing prejudice. Instead, the Court stated that determining prejudice required a court to "consider 'the totality of the available mitigation evidence-both that adduced at trial, and the evidence adduced in the habeas proceeding' - and "reweig[h] it against the evidence in aggravation." *Porter*, 130 S. Ct. at 453-54 (quoting *Williams*, 529 U.S. at 397-98).

Moreover, in Wong v. Belmontes, 130 S. Ct. 383, 386-91 (2009), the Court reversed the Ninth Circuit for finding prejudice by ignoring the mitigation evidence already presented, the cumulative nature of the new evidence, the negative information that would have been presented had the new evidence been presented and the aggravated nature of the crime. Court noted that this error was probably caused by the Ninth Circuit's failure to require that the defendant meet his burden of affirmatively proving prejudice. *Id.* at 390-91. Similarly in Bobby v. Van Hook, 130 S. Ct. 13, 19-20 (2009), the Court reversed the Sixth Circuit for finding prejudice without considering the mitigation already presented at trial, the cumulative nature of the evidence presented in post conviction and the aggravated nature of the crime.

Given what Porter actually says about proving prejudice and

Belmontes and Van Hook, Defendant's suggestion that Porter requires a finding of prejudice anytime a defendant presents some evidence at a post conviction hearing is simply false. Porter did not change the law in requiring that a defendant actually prove there is a reasonable probability of a different result. Since Porter did not change the law, the lower court properly determined that this motion was time barred and should be affirmed.

Even if Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B) did apply to this situation and *Porter* had changed the law, the lower court would still have properly denied the motion because *Porter* would not apply retroactively. As Defendant admits, the determination of whether a change in law is retroactive is controlled by *Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922, 931 (Fla. 1980). As Defendant also properly acknowledges, to obtain retroactive application of the law under *Witt*, he was required to show: (1) the change in law emanated from this Court or the United States Supreme Court; (2) was constitutional in nature; and (3) was of fundamental

⁵ Using Defendant's analogy, the task of determining prejudice involves taking the bag of red and green apples as it existed from the time of trial, determining whether the new evidence actually adds any new red and green apples based on whether they are support by credible, non-cumulative evidence, adding both the new red and green apples and deciding whether the defendant has proven that the total amount of red apples outweigh the total amount of green apples. *Porter*, 130 S. Ct. at 453-54; *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695-96.

significance. Id. at 929-30. To meet the third element of this test, the change in law must (1) "place beyond the authority of the state the power to regulate certain conduct or impose certain penalties; or (2) be of "sufficient magnitude to necessitate retroactive application as ascertained by the three-fold test of Stovall and Linkletter." Id. at 929. Application of that three prong test requires consideration of the purpose served by the new case; the extent of reliance on the old law; and the effect on the administration of justice from retroactive application. Ferguson v. State, 789 So. 2d 306, 311 (Fla. 2001).

Here, Defendant did not attempt to show that the change in law he alleged was made in Porter met the Witt standard in his motion for post conviction relief or during his initial argument at the *Huff* hearing. (PCR6. 42-88, 148-54) Instead, he simply suggested that because this Court had found that Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), constituted a retroactive change in should find that lower court Porter retroactive. Id. After the State discussed the Witt analysis, Defendant merely stated that he was unable to discuss the extent of reliance on the old rule or the effect on the administration of justice because those factors depended on the nature of the change in law, which he did not clearly identify. (PCR6. 16063) He also suggested that even if the balance of the Witt factors was did not favor retroactivity, the lower court should ignore the standard. (PCR6. 162-63) Given Defendant's failure to address the Witt factors, the lower court properly determined that Defendant had not shown that he was entitled to retroactive application of the alleged change in law in Porter. It should be affirmed.

This is particularly true since Defendant did not suggest that Hitchcock and Porter were alike in ways that actually were relevant to a Witt analysis. Instead, he compared them based on the stage of the proceedings at which the error was found and the manner in which the United States Supreme Court issued its opinion. However, when one considers the difference in the errors found in those cases and the relationship between those errors and the Witt standard, the lower court was correct in rejecting this argument.

In Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. at 398-99, the Court found that the giving of a jury instruction that told the jury not to consider nonstatutory mitigation was improper. As such, the purpose of finding this error was to permit a jury to consider evidence the defendant had a constitutional right to have considered. Moreover, because the jury instruction was only given in the penalty phase and could only have harmed a

defendant if he was sentenced to death, the number of cases in which there had been an error that would need retroactive correction was limited. Further, because the error was in a jury instruction, determining whether that error occurred in a particular case was simple. All one needed to do was review the jury instructions that had been given in a particular case to see if it was the offending instruction. Courts were not required to comb through stale records looking for errors. See State v. Glenn, 558 So. 2d 4, 8 (Fla. 1990)(refusing to apply Carawan v. State, 515 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1987), retroactively). Thus, the purpose of the new rule, extent of reliance on the old rule and effect on the administration of justice in Hitchcock militated in favor of retroactivity.

In contrast, *Porter* involved nothing more than determining that this Court had unreasonably applied a correctly stated rule of law to the facts of a particular case, as noted above. Thus, the purpose of *Porter* was nothing more than to correct an error in the application of the law to the facts of a particular case. Moreover, as the lower court found, Florida courts have extensively relied on the standard of review from *Strickland* that this Court recognized in *Stephens* and the effect on the administration of justice from applying the alleged change in law in *Porter* retroactively would be to bring the courts of

Florida to a screeching halt as they combed through stale records to re-evaluate the merits of every claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that had ever been denied in Florida.

Given these stark difference in the analysis of the changes in law in Porter and Hitchcock and their relationship to the Witt factors, the lower court properly determined that the alleged change in law from Porter would not be retroactive under Witt even if it had occurred. In fact, the more apt analogy regarding a change in law would be the change in law that this Court recognized in Stephens itself, as both changes in law concerned the same legal issue. However, making that analogy merely shows that the lower court was correct to deny this motion. In Johnston v. Moore, 789 So. 2d 262 (Fla. 2001), this Court held the change in law in Stephens was not retroactive under Witt. Given the facts that Porter would fail the Witt test if it had changed the law and that this Court has already determined that changing the law regarding the standard of review for ineffective assistance of counsel claims does not meet Witt, the lower court properly determined that any change in law that Porter might have made would not be retroactive. Thus, it properly found that this motion was time barred and should be affirmed.

In a belated attempt to show that he is entitled to

retroactive application of the alleged error in Defendant suggests that he meets the Witt standard because the alleged purpose of the alleged change in law is to correct an He then asserts that neither the extent of reliance on the old rule nor the effect on the administration of justice can Not only did Defendant not present this argument be known. below but also it is nothing more than a call for this Court to abandon Witt in favor of a rule that all alleged changes in law are retroactive. Anytime a court changes the law, it does so it because believes the old law was erroneous. Thus, Defendant's suggested purpose would apply to any change in law. Moreover, Defendant's assertions about the other two prongs suggest that they are irrelevant. However, this Court held in Witt that only those changes in law about which the balance of the factors favored retroactivity would apply retroactively because of the devastating effect on the important interest in finality of decisions that would occur if all changes in law were determined to be retroactive. Witt, 387 So. 2d at 925-27. As such, Defendant's argument that this Court should apply Witt in a manner that abandons Witt in favor of a rule that all alleged changes in law are retroactive should be rejected. The lower court should be affirmed.

This is particularly true here since Defendant's arguments

are unsupportable. While it is true that Porter did involve error, that concerned simply correcting an error unreasonable application of a properly stated rule of law to the facts of a particular case. Williams, 529 U.S. at 413. the limited nature of that error, the purpose of correcting that error would not extend beyond Porter. Further, while Defendant suggests that it is impossible to know the extent of reliance on the old law, this is not true. All one would need to do is sheppardize the cases that Defendant claims were overruled and remember that they represent only the tip of the iceberg, as Fla. R. App. P. 9.141(b)(2) provides for summary appeals in noncapital cases in which post conviction motions were summarily Defendant's motion was, such denied. as that not all the precedent would be reported. applications of undertaking this task would merely show that the lower court was correct in finding that the extent of reliance was great and that the effect on the administration of justice would be vast. Given these circumstances, the lower court properly determined that the alleged change in law was not retroactive under Witt. It should be affirmed.

In another belated attempt to show that the alleged change in law here meets Witt, Defendant compares the alleged change from Porter to the change in law in Espinosa v. Florida, 505

U.S. 1079 (1992). However, this comparison is even more flawed that the comparison to *Hitchcock*. As was true of *Hitchcock*, the alleged error concerned a jury instruction given at the penalty phase. *Espinosa*, 505 U.S. at 1080-81. As the United States Supreme Court has held, the constitution only imposes two requirements on a capital sentencing scheme: (1) that it limit the class of death-eligible individuals, and (2) that it allow individualized consideration of mitigation. *Kansas v. Marsh*, 548 U.S. 163, 173-74 (2006). Thus, as was true in *Hitchcock*, the purpose of *Espinosa* was to correct an error in one of those requirements.

Further, the class of cases in which retroactive application of Espinosa was available was even more limited than In James v. State, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. in Hitchcock. 1993), this Court limited retroactive application of Espinosa to those cases in which the defendant had objected to instruction at trial and raised the issue on direct appeal. Thus, the class of eligible cases was not only limited to those cases in which the offending jury instruction was given and the defendant was sentenced to death but also to those cases in which the issue had been pursue previously. Given limitation on the class of eligible cases and the ease with which a determination of whether the error had occurred and the

defendant was eligible for correction could be made, the extent of reliance on the old rule and the effect on the administration of justice were limited and favored retroactivity.

Again, the purpose of Porter was nothing more than to correct an error in the application of the correct law to the facts of a particular case. Moreover, as the lower court found, Florida courts have extensively relied on the standard of review from Strickland that this Court recognized in Stephens and the effect on the administration of justice from applying alleged change in law in Porter retroactively would be to bring the courts of Florida to a screeching halt as they combed through stale records to re-evaluate the merits of every claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that had ever been denied in Florida. Thus, Defendant's attempt to analogize the change in law that he alleges was made in Porter to the change of law in Espinosa is even less apt than his comparison to Hitchcock. The lower court properly determined that the Witt standard would not be met had Porter changed the law. It should be affirmed.

Moreover, it should be remembered that this claim is procedurally barred. Defendant is seeking nothing more than to relitigate the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to investigate and present mitigation that he raised in his second motion for post conviction relief and lost. As this

Court has held, such attempts to relitigate claims that have previously been raised and rejected are procedurally barred. See Wright v. State, 857 So. 2d 861, 868 (Fla. 2003). Under the law of the case doctrine, Defendant cannot relitigate a claim that has been denied by the trial court and affirmed by the appellate court. State v. McBride, 848 So. 2d 287, 289-290 It is also well established that piecemeal (Fla. 2003). litigation of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is clearly prohibited. Pope v. State, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997); Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996). this is precisely what Defendant is attempting to do here, his claim is barred and was correctly denied. See Topps v. State, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004)(discussing application of res judicata to claims previously litigated on the merits).

In fact, this Court has rejected attempts to relitigate ineffective assistance claims simply because the United States Supreme Court issued opinions indicating that state courts have erred in rejecting claims of ineffective assistance of counsel.

Marek v. State, 8 So. 3d 1123 (Fla. 2009). There, the defendant argued that his previously rejected claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase had to be reevaluated under the standards enunciated in Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374 (2005), Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510 (2003), and

Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362 (2000), because they had changed the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland. This Court decisively rejected the claim, stating "the United States Supreme Court in these cases did not change the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland." Marek, 8 So. 3d at 1128. This Court did so even though the United States Supreme Court had found under the AEDPA standard of review that state courts had improperly rejected these claims. Given these circumstance, the claim was barred and was properly denied. The lower court should be affirmed.

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